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CULTURAL HERITAGE EVALUATION REPORT 

 

Building Name and Address: Couvent Notre-Dame du Rosaire (Our Lady of the 

Rosary Convent), 85 Primrose Avenue East  

Construction Date: c. 1890 

Original Owner: Grey Nuns of the Cross also known as Sister of Charity   

 

 

Google Maps (May 2021). South-West view of building. 

 

Executive Summary 

The building at 85 Primrose Avenue East was constructed in 1890 to serve as 

the Notre Dame-du-Rosaire convent and school for the Grey Nuns of the Cross. 

The building is a three and a half storey, stone building with Second Empire 

influences and classical ornamentation. It is located on Primrose Hill across from 

the Église de Saint-Jean-Baptiste and seminary (90 Primrose Avenue East and 

96 Empress Avenue). The building was constructed by architect of the diocese, 

Georges Bouillon in response to strong advocacy for a new building from then 

mother superior, Mother Rosalie Demers. Today the building is a part of the 

Bruyère Research Institute.  
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The property has cultural heritage value for its design, associative and contextual 

values. It meets six of the nine criteria for designation under Part IV of the 

Ontario Heritage Act. 

Architecture   

85 Primrose Avenue East is a three and a half storey stone building with a 

mansard roof, constructed in 1890. The building is a 19th century convent with 

Second Empire influences and classical ornamentation. The Second Empire 

style was commonly used in the design of early French Catholic institutions and 

Roman Catholic Religious Orders. These buildings were typically constructed in 

stone and featured a high mansard roof, prominent front entrance, and simple 

ornamentation.  

 

The convent is representative of the Second Empire style, featuring a simple 

string course, quoins, voussoirs, sills, and gabled dormers in the mansard roof. 

The building’s rectangular design enhances its symmetrical appearance with 

evenly spaced rectangular window openings and stone sills, contributing to its 

sense of balance. Although the majority of windows have been replaced, four 

stained glass windows on the third storey on the west façade remain.  

 

The south elevation features a capped stone chimney and steps leading to a 

second-floor entrance and landing, previously a pillared portico with classical 

elements. The west façade has a first and second floor entrance and used to 

contain a two-storey pedimented entrance. The west pediment entrance was 

removed in 2018, and the south porch in 2019.  

 

Notre Dame-du-Rosaire has a high degree of architectural integrity, with much of 

its original design and materials intact, with the exception of the entrance 

porches on the south and east facades and most of the windows.   
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City of Ottawa (September 1979) 

  

West Elevation (Google Maps. left: 2018; right: 2019) 

 

  

South West view (Google Maps. left: 2019; right: 2021) 
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Architect 

85 Primrose Avenue East was designed by architect of the diocese, Georges 

Bouillon.1 Georges Bouillon (1841-1932) was a priest in Ottawa who also 

exhibited a talent for architectural design and planning. Born in 1841 in Rimouski, 

Quebec he was educated at the Christian Brothers school in Quebec and was 

sent to Mexico City in 1865 for a year to teach drawing and calligraphy. Upon his 

return he studied theology at the Roman Catholic College in Ottawa and at the 

Grand Seminaire in Montreal, but there is no evidence that he had any formal 

training in architecture, nor does he appear to have served an apprenticeship 

under another architect.  

 

Bouillon was ordained as a priest on January 25, 1874, and the following day 

became vicar at the Notre-Dame Cathedral in Ottawa. In 1878 he was appointed 

priest for the Parish of Notre Dame, Ottawa, and during the next thirteen years 

executed some of his most important commissions for the Ottawa diocese 

including his best-known work, the neo-Gothic chapel for the Rideau Street 

Convent in Ottawa (now demolished) (1886). When the convent was demolished 

in 1972 the chapel interior was carefully dismantled and later reassembled inside 

the new National Gallery of Canada in 1987-88. Bouillon retired as parish priest 

in 1891.2,3  

 

Bouillon also worked on the Notre Dame Roman Catholic Basilica (former 

Cathedral) (385 Sussex Street), Sisters of Charity Mother House (9 Bruyère 

Street), House of Studies at St. Jean Baptiste Roman Catholic Church (90 

Primrose and 96 Empress Avenue).4  

 

 
1 Lacelle, E. et Savard, P. (1997). Saint-Jean-Baptiste d'Ottawa 125e  
anniversaire 1872-1997 de mémoire vive. 
2 Ottawa Free Press, 11 Aug. 1891, Pg. 4 
3 Commonwealth Historic Resource Management (2023). A Cultural Heritage Evaluation Report  
4 Ibid. 
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History 

85 Primrose Avenue East was built in 1890 to serve as the Notre Dame-du-

Rosaire (Our Lady of the Rosary Convent) for the Grey Nuns of the Cross also 

known as the Sisters of Charity of Ottawa.5 The Grey Nuns, was founded by 

Sister Élisabeth Bruyére in when she arrived in Ottawa in 1845, at the request of 

Bishop Phelan and Father Adrien Telmon. The new mission at 9 Bruyère Street 

was intended to provide social ministry to the growing town of ByTown. The 

Order has been involved in healthcare and education in Ottawa for almost 200 

years. According to their mission statement, the Sisters of Charity of Ottawa, 

provide education, health care, and the relief of poverty promoting values of 

compassion, self-gift, and simplicity 6.  

 

Mother Rosalie Demers, Mother Superior from 1888 to 1898, saw a great need 

for an educational institution and advocated for the building of the convent and 

school.7 She recruited George Bouillon, architect of the diocese in Ottawa to 

design the building.8 On April 15th 1890, construction work began on Primrose 

Hill.9 The nuns arrived on August 30th, and the school was blessed on September 

1st. The day after, 120 female students began attending classes on the first floor 

while the second floor was being built.10 The first floor contained four classrooms 

and the other floors were used as living quarters for the Sisters who were 

teaching there or at surrounding schools. 11 

 

In 1937, a tennis court was opened in the courtyard of the convent and a 

kindergarten was opened on April 17, 1939.12 Notre Dame-du-Rosaire was 

 
5 Lacelle, E. et Savard, P. (1997). 
6 Sisters of Chairty of Ottawa (2024)  
7 Ibid.  
8 Ibid.   
9 Ibid.  
10 Ibid.  
11 Sisters of Charity (1989). The Grey Nuns of the Cross, Ottawa, Ontario: Vol II, Evolution  
of the Institute, 1876-1967. 
12 Lacelle, E. et Savard, P. (1997).  
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known as “among the most flourishing schools in the city” written during annual 

visits by English and French speaking inspectors.13  

 

Through its history as a convent, 85 Primrose Avenue East was associated with 

the education of young French women in the early 20th century Ottawa, including 

Jeanne Sauvé, Canada’s first female Speaker of the House and Governor 

General and Henriette Bourque, the first female lawyer to work for the federal 

Department of Justice. These women and others went on to make significant 

contributions to women’s history in the 20th century.  

 

Mother Rosalie Demers and two notable alumnae from the Notre Dame du 

Rosaire convent are highlighted below:  

 

Mother Rosalie Demers 

Mother Rosalie Demers, the advocate for the construction of 85 Primrose 

Avenue East, was born on March 2, 1837, to a 

farming family in Saint Nicholas, Quebec.14 

Rosalie attended the Sisters of the 

Congregation of Notre Dame boarding 

school.15 She then attended the Normal School 

of Quebec and was honoured by being the first 

to earn an academic degree.16 She presented 

herself to Mother Bruyère on September 22, 

1857, indicating her respect to the religious 

community and the Mother Superior.17  

 

 
13 Lacelle, E. et Savard, P. (1997). 
14 Sisters of Charity (1989). The Grey Nuns of the Cross, Ottawa, Ontario: Vol II, Evolution  
of the Institute, 1876-1967. 
15 Ibid.  
16 Ibid.  
17 Ibid.  
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On February 13, 1888, Mother Rosalie Demers was elected as Mother Superior 

of the convent, making her the female superior of the community of Catholic 

nuns. She was elected for two consecutive five-year terms, finishing her duties 

on Feb 16, 1898.18 During her terms, she led the construction of the convent at 

85 Primrose Avenue East.   

 

The Right Honourable Jeanne Sauvé (1922 – 1993) 

Jeanne Sauvé was a prominent political female in Ottawa who attended Notre 

Dame-du-Rosaire. She was born in Prud’homme, Saskatchewan to Charles and 

Anna Benoît.19 Her father was originally from Ottawa, leading them to move to 

Ottawa in 1926.20 Jeanne Sauvé attended the Notre Dame-du-Rosaire from 

where she reported herself as being the top of the class.21 She also attended the 

University of Ottawa.22  

 

In 1948, she married Maurice Sauvé at St. Jean Baptiste Church (90 Primrose 

Avenue East), and then moved to Paris where she worked as Assistant to the 

Director of the Youth Secretariat of UNESCO (the social and cultural agency of 

the United Nations). After this, she moved to Montreal and began her career as a 

journalist, television presenter and political commentator in both French and 

English.23 This led her to being elected president of the Canadian Institute of 

Public Affairs, and then vice president of the Federation of Authors and Artists of 

Canada, a union of Francophone authors and artists.  

 

In 1972, she was elected as the Liberal Member of Parliament for the riding of 

Montreal and later appointed as Minister of State for Science and Technology by 

Prime Minister Pierre Trudeau, making her the first female Cabinet member from 

 
18 Ibid.  
19 Tremblay, J. (2018). Jeanne Sauve. The Canadian Encyclopedia. 
20 Ibid. 
21  The Ottawa Citizen, January 17, 1993, Pg. 65  
22 Tremblay, J. (2018). 
23 Ibid.  
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Quebec in the House of Commons. In 1980, when Trudeau returned to power, 

Sauvé became president of the House of Commons, making her the first female 

Speaker of the House.  

 

When she ended her term as President in 1983, she took on the role as 

Governor General of Canada until 1990.24 This marked a significant 

breakthrough for women as she was the first female Governor General.   

 

Henriette Bourque (1904 – 1998) 

Henriette Bourque was another school attendee who made an impact on Ottawa 

history and feminism. She was born in Ottawa to Georgine and Dr. Edmond 

Bourque and studied at the Notre Dame-du-Rosaire, the Sacred Heart Convent 

in Montreal, the University of Ottawa and then the Université de Montréal.25 

Henriette Bourque was the second woman registered in the Faculty of Law at the 

Université de Montréal and the only one in her cohort in 1931.26 She graduated 

magna cum laude in 1933 and was first in her class of 80 students.27 

 

As a woman in the early 20th century, Bourque faced adversity throughout her 

career. She had to travel to British Columbia for her admission to the Bar, 

because the Quebec Bar did not accept women in the 1930s.28 In 1939, Bourque 

became the first female lawyer to work for the Department of Justice of 

Canada.29 She resigned in 1949, and in 1952, she obtained a doctorate in law 

from the University of Paris. Bourque is remembered as a pioneer in her field and 

in the advancement of gender quality.  

 

 

 
24 Ibid.  
25 The Ottawa Journal, October 5, 1940, Pg. 11; The Ottawa Citizen, November 27, 1952, Pg. 28 
26 Government of Canada, Department of Justice. 2001. 
27 Université de Montréal (n.d.). The Great Pioneers.   
28 Brunet, M. (2001). Out of the Shadows: The Civil Law Tradition in the Department of  
Justice Canada, 1868–2000.  
29 Université de Montréal (n.d.). The Great Pioneers.   
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The Ottawa Citizen, 1972; The Ottawa Journal, 1940 

 

Many notable women attended the convent until 1988. After this, it served as a 

hospital residence for St. Vincent Hospital. 30 In November 2013, after a 

significant renovation, 85 Primrose Avenue East was sold to the Bruyère 

Research Institute and named Annex E. 31 

 

 
30 City of Ottawa, 1988) 
31 Bruyère. (2014). 2013-2014 Annual Report. 
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Context 
 

85 Primrose Avenue East is located in West Centretown in the Dalhousie 

neighbourhood. This neighbourhood is bounded by the Ottawa River to the north, 

Carling Avenue to the south, Bronson Avenue to the east, and the O-Train 

Trillium line and Bayswater Avenue to the west. West Centretown includes the 

neighbourhoods of LeBreton Flats, Little Italy, the Chinatown, the Glebe Annex, 

Dalhousie, and Chaudière and Victoria islands.  

The colonial settlement of this area, now known as West Centretown is 

associated with the development of LeBreton Flats. West Centretown was 

predominantly inhabited by French and Irish prior to the Second World War, with 

consistent Chinese, Italian and Eastern European immigration both before and 

after the war. 32 

Lumberyards and rail yards first defined the area and by 1844, a suspension 

bridge along Booth 

Street connected 

Ottawa and Hull. 

Houses, hotels, 

factories and 

workshops 

appeared, and the 

population steadily 

increased. Many 

labourers lived in 

LeBreton Flats, 

Rochesterville and 

in Mount Sherwood (the area south of LeBreton Flats). Both areas soon became 

largely middle-class. Rochesterville and Mount Sherwood experienced a brief 

construction boom in the 1870s and was annexed to Ottawa in 188933. 

 
32 “History Chapter Four” (2023) 
33 Stefko (n.d.)  
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Concurrently, the religious properties in this area were constructed to likely 

address a need for French Catholic institutions for the increased population on 

this side of the Ottawa River.  

                

Left 1901 Fire Insurance Plan, Right: 1912 Fire Insurance Plan 
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1948 Fire Insurance Plan 

These religious and educational institutions including 85 Primrose Avenue were 

constructed for Roman Catholic religious use in the late 19th century and early 

20th century in the area in West Centretown known as Primrose Hill. The religious 

properties include Église de Saint-Jean-Baptiste and seminary (90 Primrose 

Avenue East and 96 Empress Avenue), and École St-Jean-Baptiste (755 

Somerset Street West). These properties are located along Empress (formerly 

Victoria) Avenue from Somerset Street West to north of Primrose Avenue on top 

of Primrose Hill.  

Primrose Hill is an area within West Centretown, bounded generally by Upper 

Lorne Place, Primrose Avenue East, Bronson Avenue and Somerset Street. At 

the highest point, of the hill stands this cluster of religious buildings, surrounded 

by residential properties. The residential properties range in style and 
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construction date, some predating the monastery and others constructed post 

religious institutions. 

 

1928 Aerial Image 

In 1900, this area faced change when a fire broke out in Hull. High winds spread 

the flames across the Ottawa River from the Chaudière mills south toward Dows 

Lake. The fire was devastating – LeBreton Flats and much of Rochesterville were 

completely destroyed. The escarpment known as Primrose Hill prevented the 

southerly spread of the fire to upper Lorne Avenue and the religious properties. 

The following is an excerpt from a book written by Sister Paul-Émile of the Grey 

Nuns Convent:  

Upon finishing their meal, the nuns become aware of a fiery western wind, 

sweeping smoke with it. Soon afterwards, flames rise high on the Hull 

side. The whole city is ablaze! In less than an hour, sparks and cinders 

are flying over the Ottawa River. It is the beginning of the destruction of 

the lower part of town, the Flats, which spans to the base of Primrose Hill. 
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It seems as if the tip of the hill might give way. With great difficulty, 

measures are taken to stop the roofs of the houses from catching fire. The 

Father, who is Rector of the University of Ottawa, sends a squad of 

students to rescue the convent, which is located on the edge of the tip of 

the point. The nuns post pictures of Mother d’Youville on some of the 

windows and on the outside doors. Windows on the first floor warp from 

the heat but do not break. Throughout the afternoon, firefighters and 

students go to extraordinary efforts to stop the flames from burning the 

convent’s roof and walls, as well as those of the neighbouring homes. By 

six o’clock, the wind has died down, and the danger has subsided. We 

start, once again, to breathe.34 

Today, West Centretown's landscape is unified by historical circumstance. This 

urban area contains many working-class streetscapes as well as a variety of 

building types constructed in several distinct periods of the late 19th century early 

20th century. Today, the architectural character of West Centretown is defined by 

buildings built before and after the Great Fire of 1900.35  

 

 
34 Lorne Avenue Heritage Conservation District Study, The City of Ottawa, 2006  
35 West Centretown Neighbourhood Heritage Statement, The City of Ottawa, 2017   
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Google Maps (October 2020). View of Primrose Hill, including the Notre Dame du 
Rosaire Convent and Saint-Jean-Baptiste Church from Empress Avenue North leading 
to Lebreton Flats.  

 

 

Google Maps (April 2019). View of Primrose Hill, including Saint-Jean-Baptiste Church 
from Lorne Avenue.  
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Evaluation using Ontario Regulation 09/06 
1 The property has design value or physical value 

because it is a rare, unique, representative or 
early example of a style, type, expression, 
material or construction method. 
 

Yes  
 
85 Primrose Avenue East is a representative example of a 19th 
century convent with Second Empire influences and Classical 
ornamentation. This style was commonly used in the design of 
early French Catholic institutions. Characteristic of its style, the 
building features gabled dormers in the high mansard roof, and a 
balanced asymmetrical façade. The stone building also features a 
simple string course, quoins, and voussoirs, typical of the Classical 
style.   
 

2 The property has design value or physical value 
because it displays a high degree of 
craftsmanship or artistic merit.  

No 
 
As a typical building of its style with simple ornamentation and 
details, 85 Primrose Avenue East does not display a high degree of 
craftsmanship or artistic merit. 
 

3 The property has design value or physical value 
because it displays a high degree of technical 
or scientific merit. 

No 
 
As a 19th century stone building constructed using the typical 
construction methods of the time, 85 Primrose Avenue East does 
not display a high degree of technical or scientific merit.  
 

4 The property has historical or associative value 
because it has direct associations with a theme, 
event, belief, person, activity, organization or 
institution that is significant to a community. 

Yes 
 
The property has historical value for its direct associations with the 
Grey Nuns of the Cross and the development of women’s 
education in the Ottawa region. The building was purpose built as a 
convent for the Grey Nuns of the Cross also known as Les Sœurs 
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de la Charité d’Ottawa, a distinct Roman Catholic religious 
community of women who provided social ministry to the growing 
town of Bytown (today Ottawa).  
 
Through its history as a convent, the institution was associated with 
the education of young French women in the early 20th century 
Ottawa, including Jeanne Sauvé, Canada’s first female Speaker of 
the House and Governor General and Henriette Bourque, the first 
female lawyer to work for the federal Department of Justice. These 
women and others went on to make significant contributions to 
women’s history in Canada in the 20th century.  
 

5 The property has historical or associative value 
because it yields, or has the potential to yield, 
information that contributes to an understanding 
of a community or culture. 

Yes 
 
The property yields information that contributes to a greater 
understanding of the Catholic francophone community in the area 
surrounding Primrose Hill, which developed circa 1872. The 
convent and surrounding religious institutions were likely 
constructed to address the growing need for additional services on 
the Ontario side of the Ottawa River and a growing Catholic 
francophone community in this area in the late 19th century.   
 

6 The property has historical or associative value 
because it demonstrates or reflects the work or 
ideas of an architect, artist, builder, designer or 
theorist who is significant to a community. 

Yes 
 
The Our Lady of the Rosary Convent was designed by Georges 
Bouillon, architect of the diocese best known for his Neo-Gothic 
chapel for the Rideau Street convent in Ottawa (now demolished 
but reassembled in the National Gallery of Canada). He was also 
known in Ottawa for his influence in Bytown and early Ottawa.  
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7 The property has contextual value because it is 
important in defining, maintaining or supporting 
the character of an area.

Yes 

As a prominent stone building at the top of an escarpment known 
as Primrose Hill, overlooking LeBreton flats, this property is 
important in defining the character of the hill.  

Primrose Hill is an area within West Centretown, bounded 
generally by Upper Lorne Place, Primrose Avenue East, Bronson 
Avenue and Somerset Street. At the highest point, stands a 
complex of religious buildings, surrounded by residential properties 
many of which were constructed in the late 19th early 20th century.  

The cluster of religious buildings including the convent stand as 
tangible evidence of this area earliest educational and religious 
landscape and is one of several stone buildings in the immediate 
vicinity that reflect the historic French-Canadian character of the 
area.     

8 The property has contextual value because it is 
physically, functionally, visually or historically 
linked to its surroundings

Yes 

The property is physically, functionally, visually, and historically 
linked to its surroundings. The property is part of a cluster of 
religious buildings including a monastery complex (90 Primrose 
Avenue East and 96 Empress Avenue) École St-Jean-Baptiste 
(755 Somerset Street West). Visually, these properties are all large 
limestone buildings that display and represent stone religious 
architecture. Together, historically, they are functionally and 
physically linked due to their close proximity, construction dates, 
and ecclesiastical use.   

9 The property has contextual value because it is 
a landmark.   

No 
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85 Primrose Avenue East is sited atop Primrose Hill and has 
distinctive features, including its high mansard roof, and stone 
construction. However, the St. Jean Baptiste Church belltower at 
90 Primrose Avenue stands taller than the convent, making it the 
recognizable landmark and focal point within the community seen, 
from many vantage points in the city. 
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SUPPLEMENTARY PHOTOS AND MAPS 

Photos from 1988 (City of Ottawa).  
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The Ottawa Citizen, 1993 
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Left to right: The Ottawa Journal, 1940; The Ottawa Citizen, 1952; The Standard, 1940 
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